#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-2422

#### ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: PROTECT PEOPLE FROM THE HEALTH HAZARDS OF SECOND-HAND TOBACCO SMOKE BY PROHIBITING WORKPLACE SMOKING

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF INTERESTED PARTY CENTER FOR FLORIDA'S CHILDREN NATIONAL CENTER FOR TOBACCO-FREE KIDS, INC. IN SUPPORT OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT

Michelle Anchors Anchors, Foster, McInnis, & Keefe, P.A. 909 Mar Walt Drive Suite 1014 Ft. Walton Beach, FL 32547-6757 (850) 863-4064 Fax (850) 862-1138

**Counsel for Center for Florida's Children** 

**Counsel for National Center for Tobacco-Free Kids, Inc.** 

####

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

The Court has for review an amendment to the Florida Constitution proposed through the citizens' initiative petition process of article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(10), Florida Constitution. The amendment would prohibit tobacco smoking in enclosed indoor workplaces. The Attorney General has concluded in his request for an advisory opinion that the amendment addresses a single subject, and that the ballot title and summary appear to inform the voter of that main purpose. [Letter from the Attorney General to the Florida Supreme Court, November 7, 2001, p.5.]

The text of the amendment, ballot title and summary are presented in this Court's Interlocutory Order dated November 8, 2001. For the sake of conciseness, the text of the amendment, the title and the summary are omitted here.

## Interest of CENTER FOR FLORIDA'S CHILDREN In Supporting The Smoke-Free Workplace Amendment

The Center for Florida's Children is an alliance of diverse Floridians, including individuals, children's services agencies, business leaders and philanthropic foundations. As a private, not-for-profit organization, the Center for Florida's Children serves as Florida's statewide child advocacy hub. The Center for Florida's Children focuses attention on public policies that affect large numbers of children throughout the State of Florida. To those who advocate for children and their good health, the proposed workplace smoking amendment is critical. The Center for Florida's Children considers the workplace smoking amendment to be one of the most significant child health issues in the state and one which satisfies the legal criteria for presentation on the ballot.

## <u>Interest of NATIONAL CENTER FOR TOBACCO-FREE KIDS, INC.</u> <u>In Supporting The Smoke-Free Workplace Amendment</u>

The NATIONAL CENTER FOR TOBACCO-FREE KIDS is a freestanding, privately funded, not-for- profit organization that focuses on reducing tobacco use, particularly among youth. The National Center emphasizes increasing public awareness and assisting efforts to develop, adopt and implement programs and public policies that will prevent and reduce tobacco use and exposure to secondhand smoke, and that will minimize the harm caused by tobacco. The National Center has over 125 member organizations, including health, civic, corporate, youth, and religious groups dedicated to reducing children's use of tobacco products.

#### Joint Statement of Interest of CENTER FOR FLORIDA'S CHILDREN and NATIONAL CENTER FOR TOBACCO-FREE KIDS, INC.

1	

The Center for Florida's Children and the National Center for Tobacco-Free Kids (the "Interested Parties") submit this brief as interested parties to support the approval for the citizens' initiative process for the proposed amendment to the Florida Constitution to prohibit workplace smoking in the state.

Based on available research data and findings, the Interested Parties believe that there is no acceptable or benign level of exposure to secondhand smoke and that workplace smoking restrictions provide enormous public health benefits for adults and children by:

- Protecting the public, including children, from exposure to secondhand smoke that can cause or increase the risk of respiratory disease, lung cancer, heart disease, and other ailments.

- Protecting consumers and employees from harmful exposure to secondhand smoke.

Based on available research data and findings, the Interested Parties also believe that smoke-free workplaces do not cause any economic harm to those workplaces. While the Interested Parties recognize that the merits of the proposed amendment are not before this Court in this proceeding, the Interested Parties' belief in the importance of the proposal for the public health of Florida's residents leads them to urge the Court to approve the proposed amendment for submission to the voters because it satisfies the requirements of Florida law.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The people have a sovereign right to amend their constitution in any manner they see fit, according to principles consistently adhered to by this Court. Therefore, the Court's standard of review is deferential.

The only two issues legitimately before the Court are whether the ballot title and summary fairly and accurately disclose the chief purpose of the amendment, and whether the amendment itself complies with Florida's single-subject rule for citizen initiatives. This amendment satisfies both requirements and should be approved.

The title is required simply to provide a caption "by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of." § 101.161, Fla. Stat. (2001). The title of the workplace smoking amendment satisfies that requirement. The ballot summary is required to make sure that voters know what is being considered in the voting booth. The ballot summary of the workplace smoking amendment clearly states that the purpose of the amendment is to prohibit tobacco smoking in enclosed indoor workplaces with certain exceptions. The summary also informs the voter that the amendment includes definitions and requires prompt legislative implementation. Thus, voters could not be misled concerning the purpose of the amendment.

A proposed constitutional amendment complies with the single-subject requirement if it has a logical and natural oneness of purpose or if it may be logically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme. The single purpose of the workplace

2	

smoking amendment is to prohibit tobacco smoking in enclosed indoor workplaces, and the entire amendment is directed to that objective. The amendment clearly embraces "but one subject and matter directly connected therewith" and thus satisfies the single-subject requirement of article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I.THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DEFERENTIAL.

The Florida Supreme court has noted that each proposed constitutional amendment is to be reviewed with "extreme care, caution and restraint." Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982). Our "duty is to uphold the proposal unless it can be shown to be 'clearly and conclusively defective.' "Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Tax Limitation, 673 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 1996) quoting Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida, 363 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1978)(quoting Weber v. Smathers, 338 So. 2d 819, 821 (Fla. 1976)). See also Weber v. Smathers, 338 So. 2d 819, 821-22 (Fla. 1976) ("we are dealing with a constitutional democracy in which sovereignty resides in the people. It is their Constitution that we are construing. They have a right to change, abrogate or modify it in any manner they see fit so long as they keep within the confines of the Federal Constitution. ... Neither the wisdom of the provision [initiative petition] nor the quality of its draftsmanship is a matter for our review."). Given the deferential standard governing the Court's review, the workplace smoking amendment is clear, precise, detailed, and full and fair in its disclosure. The Court should approve placement of this Amendment on the ballot.

#### II. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY ACCURATELY INFORM THE VOTER OF THE MAIN PURPOSE OF THE AMENDMENT.

This Court has said that the ballot summary is not required to include all possible effects, <u>Grose v. Firestone</u>, 422 So. 2d 303, 305 (Fla. 1982), nor to "explain in detail what the proponents hope to accomplish." <u>Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General English--The Official Language of Florida</u>, 520 So. 2d 11, 13 (Fla. 1988). Rather, it is sufficient that the ballot summary clearly and accurately sets forth the general rule to be applied and informs the voters of the chief purpose of the proposal so that an informed decision is possible. <u>Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re Tax Limitation</u>, 673 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 1996).

The title of the proposed amendment is "Protect People From The Health Hazards Of Second-Hand Tobacco Smoke By Prohibiting Workplace Smoking." This title meets the 15-word limit of section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes. The ballot summary also meets the 75-word limit of section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes, and explains and accurately reflects the text.

## III. THE AMENDMENT SATISFIES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT

3

# **REQUIREMENT OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION**.

Article XI, Section 3, Florida Constitution, specifies that any amendment, except for those limiting the power of government to raise revenue, "shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith." The purpose of the single-subject provision is to prevent "logrolling," a practice in which separate issues are rolled into a single initiative in order to secure approval of an otherwise unpopular issue. Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen.—Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994). The Court may also consider whether the amendment performs multiple functions of government or substantially affects multiple provisions of the Florida Constitution without disclosing them. Adv. Op. to Atty. Gen.—Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 1994).

A proposed amendment meets the single-subject test "when it 'may be logically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme. Unity of object and plan is the universal test.' <u>City of Coral Gables v. Gray</u>, 154 Fla. 881, 883-884, 19 So. 2d 318, 320 (1944)." <u>Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen. re Fla. Locally Approved Gaming</u>, 656 So. 2d 1259, 1263 (Fla. 1994); <u>see also Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen.—Limited Political Terms in Certain Elective Offices</u>, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991). There can be no doubt that the single dominant plan or scheme of the workplace smoking amendment is to prohibit tobacco smoking in enclosed indoor workplaces. No portion of this amendment is directed toward any other purpose. The amendment meets the single-subject requirement of article XI, section 3, Florida Constitution, and should be approved by the Court for placement on the ballot.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Under the applicable deferential standard for reviewing initiative petitions, the workplace smoking initiative "embraces but one subject and matter directly connected therewith" and the title and ballot summary accurately explain its chief purpose. The Court should approve the amendment for submission to the voters.