IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-2422

Upon Request From the Attorney General For An Advisory Opinion As To The Validity Of An Initiative Petition

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

RE: PROTECT PEOPLE FROM THE HEALTH HAZARDS OF SECOND-HAND TOBACCO SMOKE BY PROHIBITING WORKPLACE SMOKING

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE SPONSOR, SMOKE-FREE FOR HEALTH, INC.

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Stephen H. Grimes Susan L. Kelsey P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 224-7000

Counsel for the Sponsor

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The two opposing briefs take opposite tacks, the Tobacco brief asserting a single attack against the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment, and the Restaurant Association asserting several superficial attacks against the amendment, with inappropriate emphasis on its merits rather than on the limited legal issues before the Court. Both briefs share the common error of taking a sentence out of context from a non-analogous previous initiative decision, and then trying to stretch that borrowed sentence to fit the smoke-free workplace amendment. Neither opponent succeeds in establishing any clear and conclusive defect in the smoke-free workplace amendment. The amendment's title, ballot summary, and text satisfy every legal test that applies to them, and therefore it should be approved for submission to the voters.

The Court's review extends only to whether the ballot title and summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment fairly inform the voter as to the chief purpose of

the measure, and whether the amendment embodies but a single subject. If the opponents disagree with the amendment on its merits, they must take their viewpoint to the public, not to this Court. If the opponents want to challenge any particular application of the amendment on legal grounds, they must await passage of the amendment and then attempt to state a case in court. Neither type of attack on the amendment is appropriate in this forum, but must await a later forum. The Court in this proceeding may pass on only the two identified questions: ballot title and summary requirements, and single-subject rule.

Both opposing briefs incorrectly assert that the ballot title and summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment should not use the introductory phrase "To protect people from the health hazards of second-hand tobacco smoke." The introductory phrase is in precisely the same form and has precisely the same kind of function as the introductory phrase that this Court approved in the High-Speed Rail amendment last year, and in fact was modeled after that Court-approved summary. Several other initiatives have used similar language to explain to the voter the factual basis for the amendment or what it is intended to accomplish. Contrary to the opponents' assertions, the Court has never forbidden the use of such language, and has never stated a rule such as that the opponents attempt to create here. To the contrary, the Court has expressly approved previous amendments utilizing language indistinguishable in form and effect as that utilized by the smoke-free workplace

amendment. The problem infecting the prior initiatives upon which the opponents rely is not present here; the cases are not in the least analogous.

The introductory phrase in the smoke-free workplace amendment is part and parcel of the chief purpose of the measure, and thus helps to implement the chief informative requirement of a ballot summary. The ballot title and summary fairly and accurately express the chief purpose of the amendment. No law prohibits this; to the contrary, the law requires it.

The brief of the Restaurant Association also asserts that the ballot summary does not include enough of the full details that are set forth in the text of the amendment itself. The ballot summary, however, fully complies with the requirements of law by disclosing the chief purpose and key features of the amendment. It probably includes more detail than is strictly required, but which the drafters added in an attempt to be thorough and fair. No more detail is required. The Court has always said it is not necessary to explain every detail and ramification of an amendment in its summary, and the Court has consistently recognized that it would not be logistically possible to include every detail and ramification. The ballot summary of the smokefree workplace amendment discloses the chief purpose of the amendment and is not misleading.

The smoke-free workplace amendment also satisfies the single-subject rule.

Neither Tobacco nor the Attorney General challenges the amendment's compliance

with the single-subject rule. The Restaurant Association takes a scattershot approach, asserting various well-worn single-subject attacks against the amendment, but none withstand scrutiny. The operative terms of the amendment effectuate the chief purpose and set forth matters directly connected therewith, which is expressly authorized in the Florida Constitution and which are necessary to ensure that the voter understands the nature of the amendment. The amendment is not guilty of logrolling, does not substantially alter or perform the functions of multiple branches or levels of government, and does not substantially alter other provisions of the Florida Constitution. Accordingly, the amendment complies with the single-subject rule, and should be approved for submission to the voters.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BALLOT TITLE AND SUMMARY FAIRLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY DISCLOSE THE CHIEF PURPOSE OF THE AMENDMENT.

The opposing brief of Lorillard Tobacco Company, R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, et al. (collectively, "Tobacco") attacks the smoke-free workplace amendment solely on the grounds that its summary begins with the phrase "To protect people from the health hazards of second-hand tobacco smoke." Tobacco does not dispute that this phrase fairly and accurately discloses the reason for the amendment, what the amendment is intended to accomplish, and the legitimate and compelling state interest at issue. Tobacco does not challenge the language as ambiguous. Rather,

Tobacco disagrees with it on the merits, and in order to secure the Court's de facto allegiance to the Tobacco position, invites the Court to make a new rule. The new Tobacco rule would prohibit a constitutional initiative from stating any facts or any explanation of why it is being proposed or what it intends to accomplish. The new rule that Tobacco proposes is that "[a]ny factual assumption included in a title or summary, whether direct or implicit, is inherently misleading." [Tobacco In. Br. at 4.] Tobacco's novel interpretation and extension of the Court's past initiative cases is utterly unsupported by an unbiased examination of those cases, and departs from the rule that the Court consistently applies to ballot summaries and upon which the drafters of this amendment relied.

A. The Introductory Phrase of the Summary is Permissible and is Supported By Directly Analogous Precedent.

The rule to which the Court has always adhered is the requirement of section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes, that a ballot summary must "state in clear and unambiguous language the chief purpose of the measure." Section 101.161 does not prohibit the inclusion of the factual basis for the initiative or an explanation of what the sponsor intends to accomplish. Indeed, it may be difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish between that and the "chief purpose" of a measure, so that omission of the intended goal could in itself render the summary misleading. Section 101.161 does not create a dichotomy between the bare legal operation of an amendment and the goal that it seeks to accomplish, or the evil that it intends to remedy – i.e., its "chief

purpose." Nevertheless, that is the new rule that Tobacco asks the Court to adopt. The Court should decline Tobacco's invitation to create a new rule for ballot summaries, and adhere to its longstanding precedents, under which the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment was drafted, and under which it must be approved.

Approval of the smoke-free workplace ballot summary is consistent with the Court's past approval of initiatives whose ballot summaries included facts (subject to dispute on the merits) about why the amendment was being proposed and what it sought to accomplish. Most recently, the Court approved the High-Speed Rail initiative even though its ballot summary and text included the factual basis of the amendment and what it was intended to accomplish, and even though the vigorous campaign debate illustrated that the facts were the subject of disagreement and dispute:

Ballot summary: "To reduce traffic and increase travel alternatives, this amendment provides for development of a high speed monorail"

Text: "To reduce traffic congestion and provide alternatives to the traveling public, it is hereby declared to be in the public interest"

Advisory Op. to the Atty. Gen. re Fla. Transp. Initiative for Statewide High Speed

2000) (emphasis added). These statements of the factual basis and intent of the amendment were disputed and debated throughout the campaign. Some politicians and

Monorail, Fixed Guideway or Magnetic Levitation System, 769 So. 2d 367, 368 (Fla.

commentators did not believe, and perhaps still do not believe, that a high-speed rail system would alleviate highway traffic congestion at all. Others did. It was a classic case of a political question going before the voters, who could research and debate the issues, believe what they wanted to believe, and vote accordingly. That is what an initiative does.

To strike an initiative from the ballot because it comes right out and says in clear and direct language what it is trying to do would subvert the very foundations of the initiative process. Carroll v. Firestone, 497 So. 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla. 1986) ("We see no constitutional infirmity, but much to commend, in a drafter attempting to make clear the intent of a constitutional provision."). The whole point of the ballot summary is to provide fair and unambiguous notice of the chief purpose of an initiative. This ballot summary does that. The fact that Tobacco disagrees with it is irrelevant.

If the new rule that Tobacco now espouses were valid, the Court would have been required to strike the High-Speed Rail summary and other previous ballot summaries. The Court did not, however, because no such rule has ever existed. The Court should not create such a new rule now. The fact is, the Court approved the introductory statement of what the High-Speed Rail amendment was intended to accomplish, and the drafters of the smoke-free workplace amendment modeled their introductory statement after the one the Court approved in High-Speed Rail. The two are indistinguishable in legal effect, and therefore the Court should approve the

smoke-free workplace amendment just as it did the High-Speed Rail amendment – and others.

The sugar tax and related amendments that the Court ultimately approved in 1996 also included factual statements of their purposes in their ballot summaries. Those factual statements were strikingly similar to the language used in the smokefree workplace ballot summary, and had no adverse impact on the validity of the amendments. The 1996 sugar tax amendment stated in the summary as well as in the text that it was "for purposes of conservation and protection of natural resources and abatement of water pollution in the Everglades." Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen.—Fee On Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1127 (Fla. 1996). That statement of the purpose of the amendment embodied several implicit factual assumptions: that the natural resources of the Everglades needed to be conserved and protected, that water pollution existed in the Everglades, and that it needed to be abated. According to the rule that Tobacco espouses now; i.e., that "[a]ny factual assumption included in a title or summary, whether direct or implicit, is inherently misleading," [Tobacco In. Br. 4], the Court would have had to strike the 1996 sugar tax amendment from the ballot. But to the contrary, the factual language explaining why the amendment was being proposed was one of the express reasons the Court gave for approving the summary. Id. at 1129 ("There is no confusion relative to ... the general purpose of the payment."). Whereas the 1996 sugar tax amendment used the phrase "for the purposes

of," the smoke-free workplace amendment uses the single word "to," but both phrases have the effect of indicating the purpose of the amendment. The usage in the smoke-free workplace amendment is just as valid as was the usage in the 1996 sugar tax amendment, which the Court approved. The Court should approve the smoke-free workplace amendment as well.

A companion of the 1996 sugar tax amendment, the Everglades Trust Fund amendment, utilized the same factual statement of its purpose: "for purposes of conservation and protection of natural resources and abatement of water pollution in the Everglades." Id. These statements were in the ballot summary as well as in the text. They reflected the sponsor's intent and beliefs, raised for public debate the underlying factual question of whether the Everglades' natural resources needed to be conserved and protected, and whether there existed in the first place water pollution, and if so whether it needed to be "abated." The Court will recall that the public debate was vigorous. Voters who agreed with these statements of fact and purpose were free to vote for the amendments, and those who disagreed were free to vote against them. The Court approved the inclusion of factual statements in the ballot summary of these prior amendments, and should do so again here because the factual statements accurately and unambiguously disclose to the voter the chief purpose and intent of the smoke-free workplace amendment.

The statements that the Court approved in the High-Speed Rail, 1996 sugar tax,

and 1996 trust fund amendment cases are indistinguishable in effect from the statements that Tobacco challenges in the smoke-free workplace amendment, as is illustrated in the following chart:

FACTS IN BALLOT SUMMARIES

Smoke-Free Workplace	Court-Approved High-Speed Rail	Court-Approved Everglades Sugar Tax	Court-Approved Everglades Trust Fund
"To protect people	"To reduce traffic	"for purposes of	"for purposes of
from the health	and increase travel	conservation and	conservation and
hazards of second-	alternatives "	protection of	protection of
hand tobacco		natural resources	natural resources
smoke"		and abatement of	and abatement of
		water pollution in	water pollution in
		the Everglades"	the Everglades"

In all of these cases, the ballot summary fairly and accurately discloses the chief purpose of the amendment and is not ambiguous or misleading. In all of the prior cases, the Court has not recognized any distinction between the bare legal operation of the amendment and what the sponsor intended to accomplish through the amendment, regardless of whether explicit or implicit factual assumptions were presented. The Court has never even suggested a rule such as Tobacco's proposed rule that no facts are allowed, or that no statement of the goal of the amendment is allowed.

The ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment is entirely consistent with the requirements of law and precedent, and therefore the Court should approve the ballot summary.

B. The 1994 Sugar Tax Case Is Inapposite.

The Tobacco Brief stretches and strains to invalidate the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment by forcing it to fit into the niche carved for the first, invalidated, sugar tax amendment of 1994. [Tobacco In. Br. 7-9.] The foundation for Tobacco's argument on this point is a statement inappropriately borrowed out of context. In Evans v. Firestone, 457 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1984), the Court struck down a proposed amendment that, among several other things, purported to constitutionalize the summary judgment rule. 457 So. 2d at 1353. The ballot summary of that amendment stated that it "establishes citizens' rights in civil actions." Id. The summary proceeded to list its various legal effects, including that it "requires courts to dispose of lawsuits when no dispute exists over the material facts thus avoiding unnecessary costs." Id. The full text of the amendment, which was only five words longer than the summary, stated instead that "the Court shall grant a summary judgment on motion of any party, when the Court finds no genuine dispute exists concerning the material facts of the case." <u>Id.</u> The Court criticized the ballot summary for tacking on the phrase "thus avoiding unnecessary costs":

The summary ..., after describing the legal effect of summary judgment, ends with the editorial comment, "thus avoiding unnecessary

costs." We note in passing that the validity of this statement was hotly contested. But whether it be accurate or not, no logical explanation was given of how a constitutional summary judgment rule would be more effective in avoiding costs than is the existing summary judgment rule. Moreover, the ballot summary is no place for subjective evaluation of special impact. The ballot summary should tell the voter the legal effect of the amendment, and no more. The political motivation behind a given change must be propounded outside the voting booth.

<u>Id.</u> at 1355. The Court struck the ballot summary in that case for several reasons, none of which is present here: the offending phrase bore no apparent connection to either the letter or the spirit of the corresponding text of the amendment; and it bore no apparent connection to the purported goal of the amendment, to improve the status quo in civil actions (where cost savings, if any, were already available in summary judgment procedures). Further, the phrase went beyond the chief purpose of the amendment to throw in as a bonus an additional – and collateral – reason to support the amendment. <u>Id.</u> The Court found several other fatal defects in the amendment and removed it from the ballot. <u>Id.</u>

The Court's explanation of the reasons why the offending phrase was improper was very fact-specific to its context. Tobacco improperly advocates applying Evans in a completely different context here. The introductory phrase of the smoke-free workplace amendment, in contrast to that in Evans, not only reflects but embodies the chief purpose of the amendment. It is not collateral to the chief purpose; rather, it is inseparable from the chief purpose. It accurately reflects the text of the amendment. It suffers from none of the flaws that the Court specified in Evans. Evans does not

apply on these facts.

The Court quoted the language from Evans v. Firestone in the subsequent case upon which Tobacco relies heavily, the 1994 sugar tax case. Again, that context is demonstratively different from that currently before the Court. In the first sugar tax case in 1994, the Court had for review a single initiative that purported to accomplish in one fell swoop what the sponsor ultimately split into three separate initiatives.

Compare Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen. – Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994) (one amendment) with Advisory Op. to Atty. Gen. – Fee On Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 1996) (three separate amendments). The ballot summary of the 1994 sugar tax amendment provided as follows:

Creates the Save Our Everglades Trust to restore the Everglades for future generations. Directs the sugarcane industry, which polluted the Everglades, to help pay to clean up pollution and restore clean water supply. Funds the Trust for twenty-five years with a fee on raw sugar from sugarcane grown in the Everglades Ecosystem of one cent per pound, indexed for inflation. Florida citizen trustees will control the trust.

636 So. 2d at 1338. The Court noted several flaws in the summary that rendered it materially misleading, such as its suggestion that entities other than the sugarcane industry would "help pay" for clean-up efforts, whereas no such shared financial responsibility was even mentioned in the text. <u>Id.</u> at 1341. The Court concluded with the quotation from <u>Evans</u>, stating that "the summary more closely resembles political rhetoric than it does an accurate and informative synopsis of the meaning and effect

of the proposed amendment." 636 So. 2d at 1342.

Tobacco relies heavily on the Court's criticism of the 1994 sugar tax ballot summary as "political rhetoric," but Tobacco omits a critical step in its reasoning: what part of the sugar tax summary was "political rhetoric," and what part did the Court later approve (thus eliminating the possibility that the approved parts were the impermissible rhetoric)? Tobacco asserts that Save Our Everglades means the Court will not countenance factual statements in a ballot summary nor statements of the goal to be achieved by the amendment. [Tobacco In. Br. 4.] As already noted, Tobacco's assertion would extend the rule of Evans far beyond its context and in fact create an entirely new restriction on ballot summaries not present in any statute and not previously established in any initiative case. More specifically, Tobacco misstates the holding of <u>Save Our Everglades</u>, because Tobacco fails to acknowledge what part of the ballot summary there the Court found to resemble political rhetoric. The Tobacco Brief simply skips this part of the analysis. [Tobacco In. Br. 8.]

Tobacco argues that the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment is invalid under the rule of <u>Evans</u> as applied in <u>Save Our Everglades</u> because it includes a factual statement of the purpose of the amendment: "to protect people from the health hazards of second-hand tobacco smoke." Tobacco's argument, therefore, necessarily assumes that the Court disapproved of the part of the sugar tax summary that stated in factual terms the purpose of the amendment. That assumption

is wrong.

The 1994 sugar tax amendment stated in its summary that its goal was "to restore the Everglades for future generations," and "to clean up pollution and restore clean water supply." 636 So. 2d at 1338. Likewise, the text of the amendment as proposed in 1994 stated that its goal was "restoring the Everglades Ecosystem," and "to recreate the historical ecological functions of the Everglades Ecosystem" by "restoring water quality, quantity, timing and distribution" Id. The Court had no problem whatsoever with these statements of purpose in either the summary or the text of the original sugar tax amendment. To the contrary, the Court noted that "the text of the amendment clearly states that the purpose of the amendment is to 'restore' the Everglades to its original condition." Id. at 1341. The problem that the Court identified was not the presence of these statements of the purpose of the amendment, but rather that the title and summary did not reflect that same purpose, hinting instead at something different by using the rallying cry "Save Our Everglades," bearing a very different meaning and connotation. <u>Id.</u> Further, <u>if</u> the Court had disapproved the original sugar tax summary because it included the factual basis and intent of the amendment, then surely the Court would not have approved the revised amendments, both of which included precisely the same kind of factual statement of the goal of the amendment. See Fee on Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d at 1127, 1129 ("for purposes of conservation and protection of natural resources and abatement of water pollution in the Everglades").

What did the drafters of the sugar tax amendments eliminate after 1994 in order to address the Court's concerns about "political rhetoric" as expressed in the 1994 case and secure the Court's approval of the revised amendments in 1996? They eliminated the language from the 1994 ballot summary stating the amendment was going to "save" something - replacing it with the factual goals of "conservation and protection" – and they eliminated the conclusory accusation that "the sugarcane industry ... polluted the Everglades." Compare Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d at 1338 with Fee on Everglades Sugar Production, 681 So. 2d at 1124. The remaining concepts from the 1994 ballot summary reappear in the 1996 ballot summary, including the factual statement of the goal of the amendments: "for purposes of conservation and protection of natural resources and abatement of water pollution in the Everglades." 681 So. 2d at 1127, 1129. The Court approved the ballot summaries with these factual statements in them. Id. at 1129, 1130. Thus, it cannot be true, as Tobacco now claims, that this kind of factual statement is grounds to strike an amendment from the ballot. Instead, the problem that prompted the Court to strike the Evans summary and the Save Our Everglades summary was the use of imprecise inflammatory language about "saving" the Everglades, and collateral phrases "thus avoiding unnecessary costs" and "the sugarcane industry ... polluted the Everglades." No such statements appear in the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace

amendment. Far from purporting to "save" anything or anybody, the smoke-free workplace amendment recites that it intends to "protect" people's health – just as the revised sugar tax amendments recited that they intended to conserve and to protect the Everglades, which language the Court approved; and just as the Florida Legislature has already stated that the State may regulate smoking in order to protect the public health from the adverse effects of second-hand tobacco smoke. The Florida Legislature has already recognized that this proposition is true. See § 386.202, Fla. Stat. (2001) (legislative intent of Florida Clean Indoor Air Act is "to protect the public health by creating areas in public places and at public meetings that are reasonably free from tobacco smoke") (emphasis added); id. § 20.43(7)(b) (to "protect and improve the public health," the State Department of Health shall disseminate "health information and promotional messages that recognize that the following behaviors, among others, are detrimental to public health: ... exposure to environmental tobacco smoke") (emphasis added).

Tobacco's conclusion that this amendment uses political rhetoric is based on nothing other than Tobacco's disagreement with it on its merits. The entire argument is utterly meritless, as is the Restaurant Association's assertion of the same argument. [RA In. Br. 46-48.] The ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment satisfies the requirements of Florida law, and should be approved.

C. The Ballot Summary Complies Fully With The Law.

The Restaurant Association, in addition to asserting the same argument about the introductory phrase, attacks the ballot summary on several other grounds, not one of which is meritorious. Curiously, the Restaurant Association finds it necessary to fall back on old cases from Arkansas to make some of its points. [RA In. Br. 35, 37, 47, 48.] Smoke-Free For Health would merely note that this Court has a perfectly adequate body of caselaw upon which to draw in evaluating Florida initiative petitions. The drafters of an initiative in Florida should scarcely be expected to comply with the law of another state. In any event, measured under the law that does apply, the ballot summary of the smoke-free workplace amendment easily survives the Restaurant Association's attacks.

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